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Memorandum ‘76 signals the 200th Birthday of the Nation,
giving us four years in which to begin the task of preserving
our heritage in order to properly set the Lansing stage for the
bi-centennial celebration.



of LANSING

.Hohorable Mayor and
Members of Council

Gentlemen:

The Historic District Study Committee takes pleasure in transmitting its report identifying
for the citizens of this area those properties worthy of preservation for their historic value.
During the time we, were involved in this study, we have come to appreciate the few
edifices left in"Lansing to remind us of our heritage. To a degree we were also educated
to the possibility of generating economic activity by the restoration of historic districts.
Lansing's potential is just beginning to.be developed through the Capitol Complex Project,
the development of Washington Square with its proposed mall, the emerging Community
College campus site, the Riverfront development and other major projects being considered
by the city. It is the desire of this committee that another dimension, that of historic
restoration, be added, :

Resources and programs to aid cifies in the preservation of their architectural treasures
are available. The committee's deliberations lead them to believe that Lansing should
make an early effort to implement an historic preservation program to enhance its status
as the dynamic Capitol city.

The Committee is appreciative of the opportunity given them to serve and in turn,
appreciates the assistance of those not on the committee, who aided in the preparation
of this report.

Respectfully submitted,

g

/.

Roget T. May, Chai
Lansing Historic District Study Committee
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MAYOR AND CITY COUNCIL .

Gerald Graves - Mayor

Harold A. Moore, Mayor Pro Tem " Joel 1. Ferguson
John T. Anas ‘ Jack D. Gunther
Lucille E. Belen Roger T. May
William A. Brenke Terry McKane

LANSING HISTORIC DISTRICT STUDY COMMITTEE

Greater Lansing Historical Society: Ford Ceasar (Vice-Chairman), Jack T, Crosby, Eugene
G. Wanger

Model Cities Policy Board: William D. Lontz, Thelma Osteen

American Institute of Architects: J. Wesley Olds

Metropolitan ~ Lansing Fine Arts Courcil: 7 Phylis Maner

City of Lansing Planning Board:- Edwin P. Brown

Professional Histéﬂan: David Armour (Mackinac Island State Park Commission)
Lay Member; Thomas Farmrell (Michigan Department of Commerce)

City Council: Roger T. May, Chairman
Philip A. Siebert, Special Consultant

The preparation of this document was financed through grants from the City of Lansing
and from the Lansing Model Cities Program.
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FOREWORD

At this point in time, we are approaching in 1976 the two-hundreth ‘birthday of
this country. The first settlers arrived in 1620, according to history, on that well-known
Plymouth Rock. Slowly, these settlérs and their descendants spread westward, reaching -
this area of the United States in 1668. However, it wasn't until 1837 that Michigan,
bordered by the Great Lakes and divided into two peninsulas, was recognized as a state.

Since those early days, housing a gr:owing population has always been an important
and foremost problem which had to be met. Besides meeting the need for shelter, there
were also commerical developments, governmental buildings, taverns, wayside inns,
community. buildings, churches and schools being built. These clusters of the buildings
grew into the cities, towns and villages along well-traveled roads, rivers and lakeshores.

Lansing received its impetus in 1847 when this site was selected for the central
location of state governmient. Much of the early construction work was accomplished
without the services of recognized architdcts, but apparently often times the buijlder was
the designer and copier of the current popular styles, as evidenced in some structures
still standing. Many of the buildings were nondescript and merely enclosures of space,
¢ven as many buildings built toddy. Most communities of any size, however, have
architectural "gems" still in evidence for our appreciation and as historical reminders of
the past. Historical periods are traced through their architectural styles. Lansing is no
exception,

The architects and other designers of buildings, whether great or not, have all suffered
the same apparent fate. Most of their works, including the best, disappeared compietely
in 50 years, or less, from the scene to make way for "progress". If various buildings
or sites are not in the way of new highways or commercial developments, they expire
from sheer neglect or disuse.

In recent years, we have witnessed the gradual destruction of much of Lansing's
past history, which was evident in these building styles, throughout the inner-city areas.
Granted, many of them were outmoded for today's needs, as well as urisafe and declared
fire hazards, which should have been removed. However, no method of selection has been
exercised and indifference to that which is irreplaceable has aided in much of the
destruction. In the research, which compiled the following information, only sites in
many instances can be noted today where historical events occured in the city of Lansing,

-~ In this report, we present buildings which the Task Force has evaluated as worthy
of preservation by whatever means necessary when other expansions, new highways or
commerical establishments may be contemplated. It is our hope that the districts which
have been established for historic preservation of those things reflecting our past growth,
be so recorded and noted by legal ordinances that they can be rehabilitated and preserved
for some useful and occupied purpose. In this way, we can succeed in maintaining them
for the appreciation of Lansing's future generations, who, hopefully, will also be attempting
to save better examples of present day architecture, and thus our history, in the years

- to come. .
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Introduction

"Never before in our history have the American people been so concetned, articulate,
and moved to take action about the plight of our cities. And never before have
we been so conscious of the need for discovering and preserving tangible reminders
of the past.”

Robert C. Weaver, Former Secretary, U.S.
Depar’gment of Housing and Urban
Development (HUD)

As the echo and cry of ecology carries across the landscape of America more and
more urban planners, preservationists and ecologists are turning to the great problems of
visual pollution, our deteriorating environment and the aesthetics and importance of historic
preservation. After the wanton destruction of so many of America's great landmarks
and monuments coupled with the decay of the "Great American City" the once small
and scattered group of historically and architecturally minded citizens has expanded greatly
during the past decade, both in sheer numbers and in collective strength throughout the
country.

Historic preservation and the safe-guarding of America's visual heritage, buildings,
sites or natural parklands, has come to the forefront after a long up-hill battle and hopefully
these groups working side by side with urban planners and developers will create a new
American vista, incorporating visual reminders of the many great past periods in American
history.

The National Historic Preservation Act of 1966, which greatly expands the national
register of historic sites and affords the registered sites a measure of protection, reflects
the Federal government's interest in preservation. At the state level, the Department of
Natural Resources, as the official liaison office with the Federal government, is directing
state preservation efforts. Working through the Historic Preservation Task Force, composed
of representatives from a wide variety of state agencies and the Historic Preservation
Advisory Council, which adds the dimension of private expertise, the Department of Natural
Resources has sought to broaden the state's role in historic preservation. It has also sought
and obtained legislation enabling the creation of historic districts by interested
municipalities,

Many cities, concerned about deteriorating areas and desirous of preserving
neighborhoods from further blight and decay, have found that Historic District ordinances
have assisted their efforts. In locations such as Franklin Village, the Canfield West district
of Detroit, the Heritage Hill district of Grand Rapids, the Old West Side of Ann Arbor,
concetned citizens have worked to establish historic districts in accordance with state laws.
These districts, by strict zoning, provide the necessary safeguards to stabilize deteriorating
neighborhoods and attract the private capital needed to rehabilitate and preserve them
for the future as a viable community,



Although late in coming, historic preservation has a definite place 'in the future
development of many vital areas of Lansing, Michigan. Despite the loss in recent years
of a majority of Lansmg s nineteenth century architecture, a few major buildings, such
as the B.F. Davis mansion, the Turner-Dodge estate, the "1861 House" and various
commercial buildings in the old "North Lansing" area remain to present exciting
opportunities and challenges to both preservationists and community developers. Lansing
Has a historic heritage worth preserving, both for the people who will utilize these structures
and also for the general citizenry who will be assured of a tangible link with the cultural
past. :

In other areas of the country, people have already realized the diverse values of
historic preservation and the stopping of "parking-lot progress,” not only in terms of the
inherent good in preserving an historically or architecturally significant structure or site
but in the rise in tourist dollars and the added revenue in tax dollars brought by the -
rejuevenation of low-income producing areas of the city and increase in profitable business

‘enterprises.”

Historic preservation can also serve the purpose of aiding various minority groups
and low income people. Many of these historic buildings, located in previously neglected
areas of the city, have been inhabited by minority groups seeking some hope in a society
that seems to be passing them by. Any preservation activity must assist in their desires
and efforts to become a part of a working and progressive system, Preservation and poverty
are no longer at odds, but are compatible components seeking. mutual benefits.

It is deeply hoped that through the means of “adaptive use" the few significant
historic buildings and possible historic districts remaining in Lansing may be fully
researched, recorded and, most importantly, safe-guarded and turned into not only aesthetic
but economic assets for the entire community as well,



OBJECTIVES AND LEGAL BACKGROUND

On August 3, 1970, Michigan's Governor William G. Milliken signed Public Act No,
169* into law, thereby giving our state's municipalities new and needed powers to promote
and -ensure historical preservation within' their boundaries. To accomplish this objective
the statute provides a means for identifying historicaily significant structures, sites and
landmarks within the municipality, and sets out the legal mechanism and procedure by
which the municipality can help preserve them. Implicit through out is a faith in the
ability of local units of government and their citizens to do the job and a belief that
the rights and interest of affected property owners should be recognized and protected.

The first basic step in the process was taken by the Lansing City Council on January
1, 1971, when after considering recommendations from the Historical Saociety of Greater
Lansing and members of the City Planning Department, and having receivéd an offer of
financial support from the Lansing Model Cities program, it unanimously created the
Historic District Study Committee under Section 3 of the statute. In its recommendation
to the Mayor and City Council, the Historical Society of Greater Lansing succinctly
described the purpose and objective of the Committee as follows:

"The principal purpose of the Committee, as stated by the Act, would be to 'conduct
studies and research and make a report on the historical significance of the buildings,
structures, features, sites, objectives and surroundings' in the city; and to make
recommendations to you concerning the creation. of one or more historic districts,
which the Act authorizes you to establish.

The Historical Society of Greater Lansing has for many years been vitally and actively
concerned with the preservation of our historic Lansing heritage. But with the
passage of time and the rebuilding of our city, the visible signs and landmarks of
that heritage are fast being destroyed. We believe that an Historic District Study
Committee under this new Act can provide valuable practical assistance to you in
determining how the best of Lansing's visible historic heritage may be usefully
preserved."” .

The City Council's resolution, after reciting that the proposed objectives set forth
in the Act "are laudable and of great importance to the city of Lansing,” set up the
Historic District Study Committee as follows:

1. The committee shall consist of eleven (11) members which shall be appeinted
by Mayor and City Council as follows: Three (3) members shall be appointed
from a list submitted by the Historical Society of Greater Lansing; two (2)
members shall be appointed from a list nominated by the Policy Board of
Model Cities; one (1) member each to be appointed from lists submitted by
the Mid-Michigan Chapter of the American Institute of Architects and the
Greater Lansing Fine Arts Council ; one (1) from the City of Lansing Planning
Department staff; one (1) professional Historian; one (1) lay member; and,
one (1) City Council member to be selected by City Council.

* A copy of the Act is attached as Appendix B.
' 3
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The Committee will be convened by such person as Council may direct and
at such time shall establish and elgct officers and determine rules of procedure
for the carrying out of the purposes stipulated in the Act.

Funds appropriated by the City Council, or made available to the Committee
from any other source shall be held by the City Finance Director and paid
out only as provided by the Committee. All Departments of the City shall
be available to aid this Comnuttee when called upon to do so. Upon assurance
of funding for all or parts of study, Council will make advances to expedite
the work of the Committee. All members shall serve without compensation
except that members may be reimbursed for actual and reasonable expenses,
compensated by City rates.

Preliminary report of the Committee shall be presented to Council within
six (6) months after convening and final report with ninety (90) days
thereafter. The Committee will continue to serve un’ul dlssolved by resolution
of Council.

On March 22, 1971, the members of the Committee were appointed, with
Councilman Roger T. May as Chairman.

To carry out its part in meeting these objectives, the Committee's role includes
the following five functions:

1.

To prepare its preliminary Report and Recommendations, based on its studies
and research, of which this document is the result.

To hoid a public hearing on the Report and Recommendations after due
notice, as provided by Section 3 of the statute, which is to be done 60 days
after the Report and Recommendations have been transmitted to the City
Coungil, City Planning Commission and the State Historical Advisory Council.

After the public hearing, to prepare and submit its final Report and
Recommendations to the City Council, together with the recommendations
of the City Planning Commission and a draft of a proposed City historic district
and preservation ordinance.

To advise and assist the Mayor and City Council, and other interested groups,
in attempting to save outstanding historic features threatened with immediate
distruction. The Committee's current efforts, with the .endorsement and
support of the City Council, Historical Society of Greater Lansing, and. many
others to save the historic Benjamin F. Davis home on South Washington
Avenue are being extensively reported by the press.

To preserve its voluminous historical investigation records for continuing use
and development by the community.



The second and: third basic steps in the process of implementing the statute follow
the completion of the work of the Historic District Study Committee. These steps are
the adoption by thé Lansing City Council of the historic district and preservation ordinance
and the appointment of a 7-member city Historic District Cormmission to administer it.

The principal functions of the ordinances are to establish and specify the property
included within the historic district or districts, and fo recite the substantive considerations
and procedural safeguards to be observed to help preserve the historic structures and
properties within the district or districts.

Since these considerations and procedures are clearly set out in the statute, a copy
of which is appended to this report, they need not be repeated here. Theéy may very
generally be described as 4 method for preventing the destruction or inappropriate exterior
alteration of historic district .properties, at least until every reasonable avenue for their
preservation has been explored. In addition to the historical aspects, the factors of public
safety, general community interest, and financial hardship (if any) to-the property owner
must be carefully considered.

Further, any person or his representative may appear and be heard on any matter
before the Historic District Commission before it reaches its decision; and if any person
feels aggrieved by a Commission decision he is guaranteed the same rights of appeal as
are granted by law to any applicant aggrieved by a decision of a zoning board of review.

To pursue these ﬁorthy objectives the Historic District Study Committee Solicits
the support of all the citizens and property owners of the City of Lansing.
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An_Architectural History of Lansing

1840-1920

Architecturally, Lansirig, the "City in the Forest" destined to be the home of

Michigan's State Capitol and later in the nineteenth century an automobile manufacturing

center, progressed from a city of log cabins and tents reminiscent of the contemporary
California gold rush days to a city of gracious Greek Revival temples, Italian villas and
Gothic cottages and churches almost overnight during the late 1840's and 1850's,

Early log cabins whose windows were nothing more than greased sheets of paper,
such as those built around the saw mill in "Lower Town" (now the North Lansing area
around Turner, Grand River, and Race Street) and that of Jacob F. Cooley built during
the winter of 1837-38 near what is now Moores River Drive and Waverly Road, gave
way to much more sophisticated Eastern styles. Contemporary House Patterns Books and
Builder's Guides were brought along by the early settlers coming from New York via
the newly opened Erie Canal. Within fifteen years of the time that Lansing, then called
"Biddle City" was platted in 1836, it can truly be said that "architecture" had arrived
on the frontier.

The basic city plan for the present Lansing, then only a "city on paper,” was platted
and filed in Jackson County in 1836. The basic plan divided the area into sixty-five
(65) blocks with each block containing approximately 16 lots. The streets were laid out -
in a grid pattern with the main street (then labeled Broadway and now a part of South
Washington Avenue) extending north and south past numerous public squares. These
squares were left open and identified as to future use: academy, public, church etc, This
grid pattern has been maintained throughout the subsequent development of Lansing
without any significant changes in use of designated areas until fairly recent times.

The architectural history of mid-nineteenth century America is one of a striving
for expression in architecture combined with the concept of Romanticism in all the visual
arts. The delicate refinement of the late eighteenth and early nineteenth century Federal
style was rapidly replaced .around 1820 by the.stark grandeur of the Greek Revival style,
based on architectural and artistic copies of Classical Greek and Roman buildings.

By the time the State Capitol was moved from Detroit to Lansing for the opening
of the 1848 Legislative session, there were already numerous beginnings of the Greek
Revival and other historic styles of architecture in Lansing. It was only after the impefus
of the relocation of the Capitol with its source of wealth and power, that Lansing became
a boom town and literally changed overnight into a major power center. The resulting
boom in building represents the true beginnings of Lansing's architectural history,

By the time of the Civil War the Greek Revival style, characterized by its columned
porticoes, pilasters, white paint and classical details on cornices, window frames and
interiors, had all but passed from the scene, not to be seen again until late in the century
after the "picturesque" styles had run their course. Two major houses, both of which
are rich in Lansing's history, remain as prime examples of the Greek Revivial style in
this area. They are the famous "Governor's Mansion" at 2003 West Main Street and
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the John Kerr mansion now at 213 East Saint Joseph Street, The Govérnor's house was
built around 18479 for Governor Barry, who considered it too small for his wants and
refused to live there. Built on the southeast corner of Allegan and Capitol Avetiue this
low-lying house was moved to its present site in 1925 by the architect Edwin Bowd,
who lived in the house for many years. The exterior detailing, mainly in the pilasters
and small ent‘rafié;e portico link this house with its more pretentious contemporaries known
for their magnificent Greek porticoes.

Just prior to the Civil War, John Kerr, Lansing's second mayor and one of the
leading citizéfis in the early days, built a grandiose temple porticoed house on Grand
Avenue,* Kerr was a leading State Government publisher and parily owned the State
Republican Newspaper. Large sums of money were spent on the upkeep of this house
and its original patk. Now moved around the corner on East Saint Joseph Street and
ininus a "wing, the house with its beautiful fluted Doric column, overlooks a busy
expressway—a far cry from the original old plank roads leading to Lansing when it was
built.

The booming spirit of energy and growth which echoed the general American spirit
of the period ptior to the Civil War was further echaed in the various "picturesque” examples
of architecture built in Lansing. The new wave of picturesque architecture resulted in
a rash of Italian Villas, Gothic Revival Churches and smaller "Carpenter-Gothic” cottages*.
In commercial architecture, this was the era of the cast-ironi front and a general jumble
of fanciful architectural details*.

Among the earliest Lansing builder-architects to work in-the Italian villa mode was
James Jeffries, who later died in the Civil War, Jeffries is accredited with designing the
elegant Case-Wiest mansion (formerly at 827 North Washington Avenue)*nd possibly its
neighbor, the Leach house (formerly 812 North Washington Avenue). Jeffties may also
have built the Christopher Columbus Darling Villa* among other stately Italianate houses
in the City. Unfortunately, most of these beautiful houses with, their classical proportions
large brackets and scrolls, extended eaves, roof-top cupolas and fine architectural details,
have disappeared, the only remotely connected example being the Squire Havens
House—now more well known as the the "1861 House" restaurant.

Such oddities as the Octagon House (the present site of Wurzburgs Department
Store) and the myriad of vergeboad peaks and points of pre-Civil War Lansing have ail
but disappeared. Only a few towers, sparce cupolas and some vergeboards remain here
and there along Lansing's oldest streets.

The second era of great prosperity in Lansing's history, due to the booming
lumber and railroad business was best reflected in the most manificant and sumptous house
gver built here, the Orlando M. Barnes Mansion, 137 West Main Street, Typical of many
of the New York State residents pioneering in Ingham County in the early days, O.M.
Barnes saw the vast opportunities available in Michigan and proceeded to capitalize on
them. Forming an immense fortune in lumbering and land interests by the time he was
48: (in 1872) he devoted most of his later energies to the erection of his magniﬁcent
Victorian Gothic house-"Barnes Castle".®



This vast rambling house, crowned with an imposing tower overlooking both the
Grand River and the booming State Capitol, contained 26 rooms, 11 halls and landings,
9 fireplaces, 6 staircases and 3 bathrooms (an unheard of luxury for the time). Begun
in 1876 while Barnes was traveling in Burope eagerly purchasing books for his art library
and furniture for his mansion, the house was being built by the Jackson, Michigan architect
and designer, L.D. Grosvenor. The néw capitol building was being built at the same time
and Barnes hired some of the most skilled woodcarvers stonemasons, and workmen conting
to Lansing by paying them more then the going rate for the Capitol project. Completed
late in 1877 at a cost of $40,000 the house was officially opened on January 15, 1878
with the biggest party ever seen in Lansing. Over 600 guests attended this gala opening,
dancing, and toasting this palatial home uniil 2 a.m.

The grand opulence of the Barnes Mansion was short lived due to the financial
panic of 1893 and the 1920's depression. O. F. Barnes, the son of the original owner,
and his family left the mansion in 1924 and in 1957 after a quarier century of neglect,
vandalism and abandonment this former show place was forn down. Perhaps its best
epitaph being that written by Orlando Fleming Barnes and used as his bookplate: "My
Father Cometh into a Wilderness and Buildith a House on the Banks of a River."

By the last two decades of the nineteenth century architectural tastes were again
shiftinv in Lansing as well as throughout the country. By this time the concept of
"picturesque eclecticism” was blending the visual vocabuluary of all previous siyles of
ormnament and design: Classical, Gothic, Renaissance, English Tudor, Queen Anne/Eastlake
and exotic wonders such as Turkish, Moorish, and Chinese. The prime survivors in terms
of commerical buildirgs reflecting the mingling of late nineteenth century archifectural
styles are the numerous "frontier town" facades still standing in the North Lansing area,
mainly in the Bast Grand River (formerly Franklin Street) Turmner Street area.* Other
surving examples in Lansing are the unusual facades (fronts) of Rouser's Drug Store and
the upper (ca. 1890) areas of the (old) Woman's Club building at 118 West Ottawa Street,
These brick, tile and wood facades exemplify the exuberance and visual experimentation
of one of the most expansive eras in Lansing’s history.

The leading private (residential) architect of the last decades of the century was
Darius B. Moon, the architect who was responsible for the designing and puilding Lansing's
second generation of "great houses", including the imposing homes of E.D. Sparrow, B.F.
Davis, R.E. Olds, A.C. Stebbins, Henry Kositchek, H.M. Rogers, J. Stahl, etc. Time has
dealt harshly with the architectural masterpieces of D.B. Moon, only three houses
remaining, one (the Kern's house on Townsend St.) being extensively altered and the other
two, his own ornate "gingerbread house" at 116 South Logan and the 1889 Benjamin
F. Davis house at 528 South Washington Avenue, both abandoned and in imminent danger
of total destruction. D. B. Moon worked in what has since been called the Eastlake
or Queen Anne style, a style which reflected a return te work craftsmenship combined
with new uses of tile, brick ‘and leaded-glass "Tiffany" windows. '



At the same time as local architects such as Darius B. Moon were devoting se much
of their time to small exterior and interior details, national figures such as H,H, Richardson
and Louis Sullivan were developing new ideas of architectural expression:  the

Richardsonian Romanesque and the "Chicago School" style of commerical buildings.
Richardson returned to the heroic solid masonry forms of France and the Near Rast for
inspiration and Louis Sullivan developed the new multistoried structures destined to
become the direct ancestor of the soon to be steel and glass skyscrapers,

In Lansing, most of the new Romanesque style buildings were represented— at their
best in churches (Central United Methodist), train stations (Union Railroad Depot)* and
civic buildings such as the massive old city hall. In domestic architecture, the Moore
house on W. Genesee represents a translation into wood of the volumes and ornamentation
of Romanes que architecture and the Jenison house on Seymour Street reflects the strength
and solidity- felt at the end of the century. At the same time, some of the early Lansing
office buildings were rising to the dizzying height of four or five stories along Washington
Avenue.

The revolutionary period which produced modern arthitecture as we know it today
spanned the gap between the end of the 19th century and the First World War, Impressive
new housing developments such as that of the present Moores River Dﬂve—Cambr_idge Road
area and the North and South Genesee Drive reflect the continuing use of the Dutch
and English Cdlonial, Tudor, Swiss, and other popular styles. Expertly trained architects
eliminated the '.c_:arpenter- builder and despite their eclecticism excellent workmenship and
a true love of craftsmenship blended all the modern comforts with the traditional styles.

After the First World War the new International Style of architecture, characterized
by flat unadorned surfaces, use of large windows and skeleton framework for the most
part surpassed the period styles and led the way in the direction of fwentieth century
architecture—~thg way to utilitarianism and the use of all available space ‘and elimination
.of all excess qi'nament. In the period of less than a century, the architecture of the
city of Lansing had moved rapidly from the earliest log cabins, through a series of
picturesque past styles and had emerged into the bright new glare of the 20th century
glass and steel ‘skyscraper.






